

MONITOR

SUSTAINABILITY NO. 02 / 2024

Kazakhstan's Energy Transition

Tackling the Challenges on the Path to Carbon Neutrality

Tatiana Lanshina, Yana Zabanova

- Kazakhstan is Central Asia's energy transition pioneer. It was the first country in the region to set renewable energy targets, develop a functioning support mechanism for wind and solar, launch an emissions trading system, and establish a carbon neutrality target.
- To date, Kazakhstan's approach to the energy transition has mainly consisted of adding new wind and solar capacity in the power generation sector. However, the country is not yet pursuing a fully renewables-based power sector.
- In many key sectors, the transition has yet to begin. These include energy-intensive industries, transport, and residential heat. Clear sectoral reduction targets and roadmaps, coupled with effective support mechanisms, are essential in these areas.

- Carbon pricing can be a key pillar in incentivising economy-wide industrial decarbonisation in Kazakhstan. For this to be effective, a comprehensive reform of the national emissions trading system is essential.
- Securing access to affordable financing and streamlining the fragmented national climate and energy policy framework for the energy transition remain significant challenges.
- Moving forward, Kazakhstan will need to address sensitive and challenging issues such as planning a just coal phaseout, raising energy tariffs, and phasing out fossil fuel subsidies.

Table of Contents

Background	2
Kazakhstan's Climate and Decarbonisation Policy	3
Climate Policy	3
Carbon Pricing	4
Clean Hydrogen Ambitions	4
Decarbonising the Power and Heat Sector	5
The Role of Coal for Kazakhstan	5
Renewable Energy Development	6
Other Decarbonization Avenues	7
Regional Power Trade	7
Industrial Transformation Pathways	8
First Steps Towards the Energy Transition	8
Moving up the Value Chain in the High-Carbon Segment	9
Key Challenges and Solutions	10
Imprint	15

Background

Kazakhstan is the largest economy in Central Asia and ranks among the highest in the world in energy intensity.¹ The country heavily depends on the export and use of its extensive natural resources, particularly fossil fuels. In the first half of 2024, oil and petroleum products accounted for 56% of the nation's export revenues,² underscoring their dominant role in the economy. While the share of the oil and gas sector in the GDP declined from over 25%³ in the early 2010s to 16.2%⁴ in 2023, it remains a significant contributor. Since the beginning of the 21st century, Kazakhstan's revenues from fossil fuel exports have surged,⁵ complicating efforts to shift towards renewable energy and to reduce carbon emissions.

In addition to the oil and gas sector, coal mining, metallurgy, agriculture, and manufacturing are key sectors of Kazakhstan's economy. The country is a leading global producer of metals and minerals, including uranium (46% of the total global production⁶), copper, zinc, lead, iron, and gold. Agriculture also plays an important role, with Kazakhstan being a major producer of wheat, barley, and other cereal grains. Fossil fuels contribute to the competitiveness of other sectors of the economy, including the metallurgical sector which benefits from the supply of low-cost domestic coke.

Kazakhstan finds itself in a situation of carbon lock-in, with a strong reliance on the exports of oil and, to a lesser extent, gas. Its domestic economy is fuelled by cheap hydrocarbons, including abundant coal resources that are used to produce electricity and heat. There are also substantial subsidies for the consumption of fossil fuels, which amounted to 6% of the GDP in 2021, according to IEA data. As a result, there are currently few incentives to invest in industrial decarbonisation, a gradual phase-out of coal, or energy efficiency.⁷

Despite these challenges, Kazakhstan has undertaken a number of measures to develop renewable energy and to diversify its economy away from fossil fuels. There is also an understanding in the country that in the near future, the world will see growing demand for minerals needed for the energy transition, such as copper, lithium, cobalt, and manganese, while demand for fossil fuels (primarily coal) will decline.⁸ However, progress in ensuring the supply of these minerals has been modest.

Kazakhstan's Climate and Decarbonisation Policy

Climate Policy

Kazakhstan was one of the first post-Soviet countries to openly acknowledge the looming end of the hydrocarbon era and the need for a green structural transformation. In May 2013, Kazakhstan adopted the Concept of the Transition to a Green Economy, a pioneering strategic document which called for a 30% share of renewable and alternative (nuclear) energy in total power generation by 2030 and 50% by 2050. For a country with virtually no low-carbon generation capacity at the time other than the Soviet-built hydropower plants, these were very ambitious targets.

While Kazakhstan was quick to sign and ratify the Paris Agreement in 2016, its commitments under the treaty remain limited. Kazakhstan's First Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC) sets the goal of a 15% unconditional reduction in greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions by 2030 (from the 1990 level), as well as a conditional 25% reduction target contingent on receiving external assistance like concessional financing or technology transfer. However, since Kazakhstan experienced a prolonged severe economic downturn after gaining independence in 1991, its GHG emissions at the time of signing the Paris Agreement were already lower than in 1990, further reducing the scope of the ambition.

Despite this, in 2020, Kazakhstan became the first post-Soviet republic to announce plans to reach carbon neutrality (by 2060). In February 2023, after intense discussions and multiple revisions, the government issued the corresponding strategy.⁹ The Strategy to Achieve Carbon Neutrality by 2060 assigns renewable energy a central role in decarbonising Kazakhstan's economy. In addition, it lists measures such as developing nuclear power and Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) technologies, increasing energy efficiency, using carbon sinks – with a special emphasis on sustainable forest management –, and improving waste management practices and circularity. Low- and zero-emission hydrogen is expected to play a supporting role. The strategy emphasises the importance of effective carbon pricing and outlines plans for progressively reducing the number of free emission allowances as well as introducing a carbon tax for sectors outside of the national emissions trading system. However, the document lacks clear reduction targets for the energy and transport sector and industry. An implementation roadmap is currently under development.

In addition to focusing on CO₂, Kazakhstan is also stepping up its efforts to reduce methane emissions, a highly potent greenhouse gas. The country has experienced some of the world's largest methane leaks, including a significant one detected by satellites in the summer of 2023 at an oil well near the Caspian Sea. In the same year, Kazakhstan joined the Global Methane Pledge, a joint US and EU initiative aiming for a 30% reduction in methane emissions by 2030. A national methane strategy is expected to be finalised in 2025, in time for COP30.

Carbon Pricing

Kazakhstan introduced a national emissions trading system as early as 2013, inspired by the EU's scheme. It covers CO₂ emissions from power generation, the oil and gas industry, mining and metals, the chemical industry, as well as cement, gypsum, brick and lime production.¹⁰ However, from the outset, the system has been exposed to pressure from stakeholders from energy-intensive industries. This has led to an overallocation of free allowances and the application of excessively high emissions benchmarks, which undermine market mechanisms and hinder the development of an adequate carbon price. In early September 2024, the CO₂ price stood at a mere 397 KZT (0.73 EUR/0.81USD)¹¹ per ton, compared to 66.7 EUR (74 USD)¹² per ton in the EU.

With such low domestic CO₂ prices, exports from Kazakhstan will not be exempt from payments required under the EU's Carbon Border Adjustment Mechanism (CBAM). From 2026 onwards, the mechanism will gradually impose the EU ETS CO₂ price on a range of energy-intensive imported goods, including iron and steel, aluminium, fertilisers, cement, electricity, and hydrogen. However, the CBAM's initial impact on Kazakhstan is expected to be minimal, affecting only about 1% of the country's total exports.¹³ This is due to the fact that Kazakhstan exports a larger share of products in these categories to non-EU markets, such as China, Russia, and Central Asian countries. Nevertheless, if the CBAM is extended to include oil and petroleum products in the future, its impact on Kazakhstan could increase significantly.

Clean Hydrogen Ambitions

Despite its vast renewable energy potential, Kazakhstan has been relatively hesitant to join the global hydrogen race, with the government and the business community viewing the future of this new energy carrier as speculative. Consequently, most hydrogen-related developments in the country have been initiated externally. In 2021, the German-Swedish energy company Svevind announced plans for HyrasiaOne, a large green hydrogen project to be located in western Kazakhstan on the shores of the Caspian Sea. In November 2022, the EU and Kazakhstan signed a strategic cooperation agreement on green hydrogen and critical raw materials, and in March 2023, Germany opened a hydrogen diplomacy office in Astana. HyrasiaOne has been strongly motivated by a vision of supplying customers in the European Union, although local demand has been viewed as important as well. However, the prospects for implementing these projects remain uncertain due to the lack of infrastructure for transporting hydrogen to Europe and the absence of offtakers in Central Asia.

As an alternative to exports, locally produced green hydrogen could play an essential role in decarbonising Kazakhstan's hard-to-abate sectors, such as the chemical and refining industry and steel production. However, neither the Carbon Neutrality Strategy of February 2023 nor the Hydrogen Development Concept adopted in September 2024 strongly prioritise industrial end uses. In the absence of support mechanisms – such as mandatory quotas, production subsidies, or carbon contracts for difference – domestic demand for clean hydrogen has been largely non-existent.

Decarbonising the Power and Heat Sector

Kazakhstan's deeply coal-dependent electricity and heat sector accounts for more than half of the nation's total energy-related CO₂ emissions.¹⁴ The sector is dominated by coal-fired combined heat and power plants (CHP), a technology that is ubiquitous in many former Soviet republics. To date, the energy transition in Kazakhstan has almost exclusively focused on electricity generation, consisting mainly of the deployment of new solar and wind facilities. By contrast, there is almost no heat production from renewable energy sources, aside from traditional biomass such as firewood. The biogas sector remains very underdeveloped.

The Role of Coal for Kazakhstan

Coal is the backbone of Kazakhstan's energy sector, generating 66% of all electricity¹⁵ and 80% of thermal energy.¹⁶ It also plays an important role in industry, most prominently in steel production. Kazakhstan fully meets its domestic demand for thermal coal. About 30% of the coal mined in Kazakhstan is exported, with two-thirds of the exports going to Russia,¹⁷ generating some further revenue.

Coal has economic advantages over other energy sources in Kazakhstan. The country has vast coal reserves (29.4 billion tons) which can last for another 300 years.¹⁸ Much of Kazakhstan's coal lies close to the earth's surface and is cheap to extract. Almost all of Kazakhstan's coal-fired generation capacity was constructed during the Soviet era and has long since been fully amortised. Thus, the costs of coal-fired power generation consist mainly of fuel, repairs, and maintenance, with very low capital expenditures. As a result, coal is extremely cheap and, in addition to its natural low price, is also subsidised by the state. Since the carbon price in Kazakhstan is among the lowest in the world, it does not increase the cost of coal combustion either. Economically, coal's overall significance is relatively minor, with the World Bank estimating Kazakhstan's coal rents¹⁹ at about 0.8% of GDP.²⁰ However, there are entire cities in Kazakhstan built around the coal industry, which plays an important role in their economies, creating both direct and indirect jobs.

However, coal also has significant disadvantages: it is responsible for about 40% of Kazakhstan's total GHG emissions.²¹ Coal combustion in large urban centres is a major cause of severe air pollution, with Almaty, Kazakhstan's largest city with a population of 2.3 million, being among worst affected.²² To mitigate this problem, there are plans to convert the city's thermal power plants from coal to gas.

Almost all of Kazakhstan's coal power plants were built before 1990²³ and require capacity replacement. The entire energy infrastructure, built around coal back in Soviet times, is aging. Moving forward, electricity from new coal-fired power plants will no longer be as cheap as it was from Soviet-era plants, as the cost will now include capital expenditures. The gradual replacement of coal generation with renewable energy is thus the most important and straightforward way to reduce GHG emissions in Kazakhstan. Economic considerations support this pathway: according to a study by the German think tank Agora Energiewende, reducing the share of coal in electricity generation to 45% by 2030 could also lead to lower costs for electricity generation and transmission.²⁴

At present, however, there is no commitment in Kazakhstan to significantly reduce coal-fired power generation, although several official strategic documents, including the Strategy for Achieving Carbon Neutrality by 2060, do indicate the need for such a reduction.²⁵ The share of coal in

the electricity mix may decline due to the expansion of renewable energy sources and possibly the construction of nuclear power plants. However, a significant reduction in coal-fired power generation in absolute terms is not being discussed.²⁶ Instead, Kazakhstan plans to build new coal-fired power plants with a combined capacity of 4.7 GW in cooperation with Russian partners by 2035.²⁷

Renewable Energy Development

Renewable energy development has received a high level of political support in Kazakhstan due to its potential to bolster the country's international standing and attract foreign investment. Kazakhstan adopted the Law on Support for Renewable Energy Sources in 2009, yet it took several years for renewable energy development to gain momentum. In 2013, Kazakhstan introduced renewable energy targets: by 2020, 3% of electricity was to be generated from solar, wind, small hydropower, and biogas – a target that was met on time. By 2030, the goal is to reach 15%. There is also an interim target of 6% by 2025, which Kazakhstan is on track to achieve.

Kazakhstan's support framework for renewables was developed in close cooperation with the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (EBRD) and later also with USAID's Power Central Asia Program. The first decisive step was the introduction of generous feed-in tariffs for windand solar-generated electricity in 2014, which included long-term (15-year) offtake contracts and annual indexation to account for inflation and, if applicable, for exchange rate volatility. The tariffs sparked a relatively rapid development of wind and solar facilities across the country. In 2018, in an attempt to reduce the costs of renewable energy projects and to gain more control over the siting of new installations, the government introduced renewable energy auctions. These auctions resulted in a swift and substantial reduction in tariffs, down to \$0.02 per kWh for wind and \$0.04 per kWh for solar in 2023-2024.²⁸ As of August 2024, Kazakhstan had installed 1.2 GW of solar capacity and 1.4 GW of wind capacity. In the first six months of 2024, solar and wind energy contributed 5.5% to Kazakhstan's total power generation.²⁹

More recently, Kazakhstan has shown a growing interest in intergovernmental agreements for constructing gigawatt-scale wind power plants with integrated storage. In 2023-2024, Kazakhstan signed deals with Saudi Arabia's ACWA Power, the UAE's Masdar, France's TotalEnergies, and China International Power Holding for the construction of a combined 4 GW of wind power capacity. Unlike the transparent auction process, however, these negotiations are usually conducted behind closed doors, with little public information available on tariff-setting.

Despite good progress, renewable energy development in Kazakhstan is facing several challenges. The most pressing issue is the slow modernisation of the transmission network and the lack of connections between the gas-rich western energy zone and the northern and southern ones. Another obstacle is the lack of flexibility in the energy system. Although the share of wind and solar energy in the Kazakh power system is still relatively low, grid integration issues are already becoming a concern. This is because the output of old coal-fired power plants, unlike that of hydropower or gas-fired power plants, cannot be flexibly regulated. Therefore, during periods of abundant electricity production from solar and wind, it is not possible to shut down coal-fired power plants. As a result, the higher the share of variable renewables in the grid, the greater the likelihood of curtailing solar and wind power plants. Another challenge is the improvement of the accuracy of solar and wind generation forecasts, as electricity production from renewable sources

depends on the weather. While accurate forecasts are technically feasible and used in countries like Germany, they are not yet available in Kazakhstan.

To maintain grid stability – especially in view of the rapidly increasing electricity demand – Kazakhstan increasingly relies on electricity imports from Russia. There is a strong push on the part of the national grid operator, KEGOC, to make integrated storage facilities mandatory for new projects. However, Kazakh companies active in the renewable energy sector have opposed such a requirement, arguing that it would significantly increase the costs of new projects, making them unprofitable. Other flexibility mechanisms for grid stabilisation, such as sector coupling, demand management, and larger energy flows within the Central Asian regional grid remain largely untapped.

Other Decarbonization Avenues

Apart from developing renewables, Kazakhstan is exploring other potential solutions to reduce and compensate for CO₂ emissions. These include expanding the use of natural gas as a transition fuel by promoting gasification and, as mentioned earlier, converting some coal-fired power plants to gas. More controversial and costly are proposals for nuclear power development. Although Kazakhstan is the world's largest producer of uranium, it currently does not operate any nuclear power plants of its own. There is widespread social scepticism about nuclear power in Kazakhstan, rooted in the country's history as a Soviet nuclear testing site.³⁰ Safety concerns play a prominent role as well. However, the country's political leadership has made it clear that it is interested in developing nuclear power, which is included in most power sector development and decarbonisation scenarios. Currently, two blocks with a capacity of 1400 MW each are under discussion.³¹ A national referendum on the issue was held on October 6, 2024, with a 63.66% turnout. According to the official results, 71.12% voted in favour of the nuclear power plant construction.³² At present, it is still unclear who would build the reactors, with the contenders including leading nuclear companies from Russia, China, South Korea, and France.³³

Another contested decarbonisation pathway is the expected use of CCS in the remaining coalfired thermal plants beyond 2035, as stated in the Carbon Neutrality Strategy. CCS and CCU (Carbon Capture and Utilization) technologies remain underexplored in Kazakhstan, although the country has a massive CO₂ storage potential. According to research conducted at the Nazarbayev University, storage capacity at four best selected sites was estimated at 306 Gt, equivalent to 917 years of annual national GHG emissions.³⁴

Regional Power Trade

Interconnectivity – both within Kazakhstan and with other countries in the region – is becoming increasingly crucial for Kazakhstan. The growing electricity generation from renewable energy sources makes transmission capacities in the interconnected grid even more important. With rising electricity demand and an aging power plant fleet, grid expansion becomes even more crucial for balancing fluctuations.

Grid connectivity in Kazakhstan needs significant improvements. As the Kazakh energy grid was originally designed and built as part of the integrated Soviet system, its different regional energy zones are connected to the Russian grid. What is missing, however, is a connection between the Western zone, where the country's entire oil and gas industry and many flexible gas-fired power plants are located, and the Northern and Southern zones. In September 2024, the national

System Operator, KEGOC, approved the long-awaited investment project to connect the Western zone to the rest of the country by December 2027, with financing from the EBRD.³⁵ There are also plans underway to strengthen the connection between the Northern and Southern zones by 2030.³⁶ Kazakhstan's power grid operates in parallel with the Russian grid. The national grids of Uzbekistan and Kyrgyzstan are also part of the Central Asian United Power System (CA UPS), which operates in synchronous mode. However, the power grids of Tajikistan and Turkmenistan are currently not synchronised with the CA UPS, making cross-border electricity trade for balancing fluctuations difficult.³⁷

Kazakhstan has been covering peaks in electricity demand by importing growing volumes of electricity from Russia.³⁸ In 2023, Kazakhstan imported a record of 5 billion kWh from Russia, equivalent to 4.3% of its total electricity consumption.³⁹ Until a few years ago, Kazakhstan had also imported electricity from Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan, but they can no longer meet their own needs. Since 2023, Russia has been supplying Kyrgyzstan with electricity in transit through Kazakhstan. However, Kazakhstan plans to resume importing electricity from Tajikistan via Uzbekistan once all units of the large-scale Rogun hydropower plant, which has been under construction since 2016, are put into operation.

Industrial Transformation Pathways First Steps Towards the Energy Transition

Kazakhstan's industry, a major GHG emitter, is at a very early stage of the green transformation. Access to cheap hydrocarbons provides a central competitive advantage for energy-intensive industries, such as metals, mining, and the chemical industry. Kazakhstan's negligible CO₂ prices and the lack of sector-specific decarbonisation targets weaken incentives to invest in costlier climate-friendly technologies. Overcoming this carbon lock-in will require significant efforts, including targeted sectoral policies, support measures, and access to affordable financing.

Two categories of companies in Kazakhstan are emerging as first movers in the energy transition. These include export-oriented companies, especially those targeting markets with stricter climate policies like the EU, and local subsidiaries of foreign companies bound by corporate decarbonisation strategies. As in many hydrocarbon-rich countries, international oil companies active in Kazakhstan, most of which have adopted net-zero targets, have been at the forefront of these efforts.⁴⁰ Kazakhstan's national energy companies are now following suit, albeit with lesser ambition. The national oil and gas company, KazMunayGas (KMG), has set a reduction target of 15% by 2031 (from the 2018 baseline) covering direct and indirect emissions,⁴¹ while the state-controlled gas company QazaqGas aims for a 10-12% reduction of its carbon footprint by 2032.⁴²

Companies in Kazakhstan's oil and gas sector are now increasingly investing in renewable energy. In 2019, Total Eren, an affiliate of TotalEnergies, commissioned two solar farms, Nomad (28 MW) and M-Kat (100 MW). Currently, TotalEnergies, in partnership with KMG and the national sovereign wealth fund Samruk Kazyna, is planning the construction of a 1 GW onshore wind farm, Mirny, with integrated battery storage (600 MWh).⁴³ Eni is another important actor. In 2020 and 2022, its local subsidiary ArmWind LLP launched two wind power plants, Badamsha 1 and 2 (48 MW each) in the Aktobe Region in western Kazakhstan. This was followed by a 50 MW solar power plant inaugurated in September 2023 by Plenitude, an Italian electricity and gas retail company fully controlled by Eni. More recently, KMG and Eni have announced plans to build a 247 MW hybrid power plant in Zhanaozen, combining solar, wind, and gas generation capacity. In other industry sectors, progress has been more modest. In 2019, Kazakhstan's copper company, Kazakhmys, launched a 10 MW solar farm, Kengir, followed by the 50 MW Balkhash solar farm in 2023, which is to be expanded to 100 MW by 2025. KAZ Minerals is planning to invest in expanding the installed capacity of small hydropower plants to 106 MW. The large mining holding ERG, which is responsible for 9% of Kazakhstan's total GHG emissions, may demonstrate the highest ambition. In 2022, ERG introduced an internal carbon price for assessing investment projects, and in mid-2024, it issued a corporate decarbonisation strategy aiming to reduce the carbon footprint of its key product categories (ferrochrome, aluminium, and iron ore pellets) by 30% by 2035 and achieving net zero by 2050.⁴⁴ ERG is also in the process of constructing a 155 MW wind farm at its large mining and processing plant in Khromtau. Some industrial processes cannot be decarbonised through electrification, however, requiring zero-emission feedstocks or high-temperature heat that can be supplied by clean hydrogen, which remains underdeveloped in the country.

Moving up the Value Chain in the High-Carbon Segment

Like many petrostates facing the challenges of the energy transition,⁴⁵ Kazakhstan is intent on capturing more value from its oil and gas reserves. It primarily plans to achieve this by developing a domestic petrochemical industry and expanding oil refining and gas processing capacities. In the petrochemical sector, Kazakhstan Petroleum Industries (KPI) set a milestone in 2022 by launching the country's first large polypropylene plant. Currently, KMG, in collaboration with Sibur, Russia's largest integrated petrochemical company, and China's Sinopec, is developing a polyethylene plant scheduled to be operational in 2027–2028.

Expanding oil refining and gas processing capacities is another priority. The country's three major refineries struggle to meet the rising domestic demand driven by population growth, leading to significant fuel imports from Russia. Demand for gas-based fuels has been rising as well. Illegal exports of commercial gas, especially to Russia, where prices are significantly higher than in Kazakhstan, further limit the quantities available domestically. If a common market for oil and petro-leum products is introduced within the Eurasian Union as planned in 2025, the issue is likely to worsen. To address this, Kazakhstan's national company QazaqGas plans to launch four new gas processing plants between 2026 and 2030, including two plants in Kashagan in partnership with Qatar's UCC Holding. The government is also promoting the use of natural gas-based motor fuels, such as compressed natural gas (CNG) and liquefied natural gas (LNG), and QazaqGas is constructing an LNG plant in Rudny in northern Kazakhstan to meet domestic demand.

Coal chemistry has been attracting a growing interest in Kazakhstan as well.⁴⁶ Key coal chemical processes include coal gasification, liquefaction, and the production of valuable by-products such as coke for metallurgical industry, tar, and chemicals for the petrochemical industry. Many coal mining companies are hopeful that the demand for coal chemicals will complement or even replace the demand for coal from power plants and boiler houses in a few decades.

However, switching from coal combustion to coal chemistry does not solve the problem of GHG emissions and leads to other negative environmental impacts, such as high water consumption and discharging toxic wastewater, as well as pollution from coal mining. Nevertheless, companies are convinced that coal chemistry could become a new engine of economic growth in Kazakhstan and make the country a world leader in this field. Currently, China is the only country successfully implementing large-scale coal conversion, transforming coal into products like coke, fertilisers, and various chemicals.⁴⁷ Kazakhstan is increasingly looking to China's experience and seeking to

attract Chinese partners and investors. However, even in China's case, the future prospects of the coal chemical industry in the global energy transition are highly uncertain.⁴⁸

Key Challenges and Solutions

To achieve carbon neutrality, Kazakhstan needs to address several cross-sectoral challenges, both technical and systemic in nature. A fundamental restructuring of the energy system and the entire economy is required, which cannot be done painlessly. Especially challenging is the diversification of the regional economies that depend on coal mining. This requires significant investment in the expansion of renewable energy, as well as in the development of new industrial sectors, sustainable agriculture, and the service sector. Any energy transition strategy will need to account for the risk of significant job losses. Coal mining, electricity generation at coal-fired power plants, and related industries employ tens of thousands of workers. Without the support of the government, development banks, and international organisations, a structural change of this magnitude cannot succeed. The energy transition must be gradual and fair, necessitating special institutions and financing instruments.

For a just energy transition, Kazakhstan must set ambitious but achievable emission reduction targets in all key sectors of the economy, including electricity and heating, transport, and energy-intensive industries. These sectoral targets should be included in Kazakhstan's Second Nationally Determined Contributions (NDC) under the Paris Climate Agreement as well as in national and regional strategic documents.

The financing of the energy transition can be secured through a combination of domestic and international sources. Effective means include the issuance of green bonds, an increase in the carbon price, and access to funds provided by international organisations, development banks, and private investors. A reorientation of investment flows away from traditional sectors toward lowcarbon ones can play an important role as well. A favourable investment climate is a must for unlocking these financial flows.

To integrate growing shares of renewable energy, it is necessary to modernise the Kazakh power grid and improve connectivity between different regions of the country, as well as with neighbouring countries. In addition, it is important to explore and develop other flexibility options, such as energy storage solutions, smart grids, demand management, and sector coupling.

In expanding renewable energy sources and related sectors (such as energy storage or electric vehicles), a high share of local value creation should be promoted, without imposing strict local content requirements. A successful energy transition would generate positive spillover effects, fostering domestic value creation and creating new jobs. It could also potentially lower the costs of renewable energy development, especially in the wind power sector, which is characterised by the expensive logistics of importing and transporting heavy wind turbine components.

Any initiatives to diversify the economy should be supported, especially in coal-dependent regions. To reduce coal mining, other industries (e.g., production of consumer goods) should be established in these areas, agriculture and the service sector should be expanded, and infrastructure must be modernised. The structural change must be accompanied by education and retraining programs as well as early retirement programs for coal miners. Kazakhstan's efforts to move up the value chain in the oil and gas sector through the development of the petrochemical industry and the expansion of oil and gas processing should be linked to a clear vision for decarbonising these hard-to-abate sectors. This includes electrifying processes wherever technically feasible, substituting parts of fossil feedstocks with bio-based feedstocks or green hydrogen, applying CCUS, and putting a strong emphasis on circularity.

Kazakhstan should capitalise on its strong green hydrogen potential. While exports to Europe are unlikely in the short- to mid-term, green hydrogen can and should be developed to decarbonise the country's hard-to-abate sectors, such as refineries, the chemical industry, and steel production. This would also allow Kazakhstan to specialise in producing higher-value green industrial products, which are expected to command higher premiums in international markets in the future.

In all of this, from financing to technology transfer to trade, international cooperation plays a central role. It is also essential to involve the relevant stakeholders at all levels – regions, cities and municipalities, companies, universities, think tanks, and non-governmental organisations. A successful energy transition would not only help Kazakhstan reduce its GHG emissions and environmental pollution, but it would also elevate the country's economy to a new level of development.

¹ Enerdata (2024), Energy intensity, <u>https://yearbook.enerdata.net/total-energy/world-energy-in-tensity-gdp-data.html</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

² Qazstat (2024), Foreign trade turnover of the Republic of Kazakhstan (January-June 2024), <u>https://stat.gov.kz/ru/industries/economy/foreign-market/publications/207316/</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

³ Kazenergy (2024), The share of oil and gas sector in the GDP of Kazakhstan, <u>https://www.kaze-nergy.com/ru/operation/kazakhstan-and-global-energy/167/2633/</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

⁴ Qazstat (2024), Gross domestic product by production method, highlighting the share of the oil and gas sector in GDP (2023), <u>https://stat.gov.kz/ru/industries/economy/national-accounts/publications/182291/</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

⁵ Kazenergy (2024), The share of oil and gas sector in the GDP of Kazakhstan, <u>https://www.kaze-nergy.com/ru/operation/kazakhstan-and-global-energy/167/2633/</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

 ⁶ World Population Review (2024), Uranium Production by Country 2024, <u>https://worldpopulation-review.com/country-rankings/uranium-production-by-country</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).
⁷ World Bank Group (2024), Empowering the Future of Kazakhstan's Energy Sector.

https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2024/01/05/empowering-the-future-of-kazakhstansenergy-sector (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

⁸ Kazenergy (2024), The share of oil and gas sector in the GDP of Kazakhstan, <u>https://www.kaze-nergy.com/ru/operation/kazakhstan-and-global-energy/167/2633/</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

⁹ Decree of the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan (2023), No. 121, On approval of the Strategy for achieving carbon neutrality of the Republic of Kazakhstan until 2060, <u>https://adilet.zan.kz/rus/docs/U2300000121</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

¹⁰ Damu, Z. (2024), Greenhouse gas emission cap and trade system, <u>https://recycle.kz/ru/parniko-vye-gazy</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

¹¹ Ibid.

¹² Trading Economics (2024), EU Carbon Permits, <u>https://tradingeconomics.com/commodity/car-</u> <u>bon</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

¹³ Ray, L., D'Souza, D., de Vere Walker, C. (2023), Kazakhstan Energy Transition: Steppes to Net Zero. Carbon Tracker Report, September 2023, p. 30, <u>https://carbontracker.org/reports/kazakhstan-energy-transition/</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

¹⁴ IEA (2024), Kazakhstan. Total CO2 emissions from energy, <u>https://www.iea.org/countries/ka-</u> zakhstan/emissions (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

¹⁵ KEGOC (2024), Annual reports, <u>https://www.kegoc.kz/en/for-investors-and-sharehold-ers/raskrytie-informatsii/annual-reports/</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

¹⁶ GEF, Ministry of Ecology, Geology and Natural Resources of the Republic of Kazakhstan, UNDP (2022), Eighth National Communication and Fifth Biennial Report of the Republic of Kazakhstan to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change, <u>https://www.undp.org/kazakhstan/publica-tions/8th-national-communication-and-5th-biennial-report-republic-kazakhstan-un-framework-convention-climate-change</u>.

¹⁷ Kazenergy (2023), National energy report 2023, <u>https://kazenergy.com/upload/document/energy-report/NationalReport23_ru.pdf</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

¹⁸ Economic Research Institute (2023), Current state of the coal industry in Kazakhstan, <u>https://eri.kz/ru/Mnenija/id=133</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

¹⁹ The estimates of natural resources rents are calculated as the difference between the price of a commodity and the average cost of producing it.

²⁰ The World Bank (2024), World Development Indicators, <u>https://data-</u>

bank.worldbank.org/source/world-development-indicators/Series/NY.GDP.COAL.RT.ZS (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

²¹ Ministry of Ecology and Natural Resources of the Republic of Kazakhstan, Zhasyl Damu (2023), National report of the Republic of Kazakhstan on the inventory of anthropogenic emissions from sources and removals by sinks of greenhouse gases not regulated by the Montreal Protocol for 1990-2021.

²² AUA Group (2019), It has been proven that thermal power plants pollute the air of Almaty many times more than transport. The Akimat knows about it, <u>http://auagroup.kz/vozduh-v-almaty/doka-zano-tets-zagryaznyayut-vozdukh-almaty-vo-mnogo-raz-bolshe-chem-transport.html</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

²³ Assembayeva M. et al. (2019), Spatial electricity market data for the

power system of Kazakhstan, Data in Brief, Vol. 23, <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/arti-cle/pii/S2352340919301325?via%3Dihub</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

²⁴ Agora Energiewende (2024), Modernising Kazakhstan's coal-dependent power sector through renewables, <u>https://www.agora-energiewende.org/fileadmin/Projekte/2023/2023 27 PST Kazakhstan 2023/A-EW 319 Kazakhstan 2023 EN WEB.pdf</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

²⁵ Decree of the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan (2023), n.9.

²⁶ The Forecast Balance of Electric Energy of the Unified Electric Power System of Kazakhstan until 2035 indicates the decommissioning of only 573 MW of coal CHP power plants in 2026.

²⁷ Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Kazakhstan (2022), On the energy balance until 2035, <u>https://online.zakon.kz/Document/?doc_id=37351758</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

²⁸ KOREM (2024), Winners of renewable energy auctions, <u>https://vie.korem.kz/rus/analitika/re-str_pobed/</u> (last accessed on 24 October 2024).

²⁹ Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Kazakhstan (2024), Information on the production of electricity by renewable energy facilities for the first half of 2024, <u>https://rfc.kz/ru/press-cen-</u> ter/news/163796/ (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

³⁰ This is primarily related to the Soviet nuclear test site in Semipalatinsk and the consequences of the tests there for the local population. See Ermilov, Artem (2008), Nuclear Tests, Uranium Mining, and the Oil Industry. Radiation Exposure and Radiation Protection in Kazakhstan, Osteuropa, 4–5/2008, pp. 165–176.

³¹ See the official forecast for Kazakhstan's energy balance until 2035: Order of the Minister of Energy of the Republic of Kazakhstan (2022), No. 104, On the Approval of the Energy Balance of the Republic of Kazakhstan until 2035.

³² QazaqGreen (2024), Final results of Kazakhstan's Nuclear Power Plant Referendum announced, <u>https://qazaqgreen.com/en/news/kazakhstan/2316/</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

³³ Charyyeva, J., Pan, Y. (2024), Kazakhstan's Nuclear Future Depends on More Than a Referendum, Carnegie Politika, <u>https://carnegieendowment.org/russia-eurasia/politika/2024/10/kazakhstan-nuclear-referendum?lang=en</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

³⁴ Abuov, Y., Lee, W. (2020), CO2 storage capacity of Kazakhstan, Nazarbayev University, School of Engineering and Digital Sciences, <u>(PDF) CO2 storage capacity of Kazakhstan | Woojin Lee - Academia.edu</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

³⁵ Kazakhstan Today (2024), KEGOC has begun merging the energy system of Western Kazakhstan with the Unified Energy System, <u>https://www.kt.kz/rus/state/kegoc_nachal_ob_edinenie_energosistemy_zapadnogo_1377968660.html</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

³⁶ DKN News (2024), Kazakhstan Prepares Large-Scale Plan for Electric Power Development, <u>https://dknews.kz/ru/ekonomika/314020-kazahstan-gotovit-masshtabnyy-plan-po-razvitiyu</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

³⁷ Turkmenistan disconnected from the synchronous operation of the CA UPS in 2003. Tajikistan was excluded because the voltage in the Tajik grid fluctuated too much, though the other operating states want to support Tajikistan to enable its return to the common grid. See Ministry of Energy of the Republic of Uzbekistan (2022), What is the Unified Energy System of Central Asia, why is it called the "Energy Ring," and why is it needed?, <u>https://minenergy.uz/ru/news/view/1777</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

³⁸ Kursiv (2024), In anticipation of the single energy market of the EAEU, Kazakhstan has become the largest buyer of Russian electricity, <u>https://kz.kursiv.media/2024-05-03/zhnb-electrokzrus-siaimportup/</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

³⁹ Kommersant (2024), Kazakhstan has taken power from Russia, <u>https://www.kommer-sant.ru/doc/6617016</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

⁴⁰ Wood Mackenzie (2023), Are NOCs rising to the energy transition challenge?,

https://www.woodmac.com/news/opinion/noc-energy-transition/ (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

⁴¹ KazMunayGas (2021), KMG Low-Carbon Development Program for the Years 2022 to 2031, <u>https://www.kmg.kz/ru/sustainable-development/low-carbon-development-program/</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

⁴² QazaqGas (2024), Sustainable Development: Decarbonization, <u>https://qazaq-</u>

gaz.kz/en/ekologicheskaya-otvetstvennost/dekarbonizaciya (last accessed on 19 October 2024). ⁴³ TotalEnergies (2023), Kazakhstan: TotalEnergies signs a 25-year PPA for a 1 GW Wind Project, <u>https://totalenergies.com/media/news/press-releases/kazakhstan-totalenergies-signs-25-year-ppa-1-gw-wind-project</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

⁴⁴ ERG (2024), ERG Decarbonization Strategy, <u>https://www.erg.kz/files/redesign/re-port_cards/78298207066c319b765a522.12543893/file/ERG%20Decarb%20strat-egy%20ENG.pdf</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

13

14

⁴⁵ See Goldthau, A., Westphal, K. (2018), Why the Global Energy Transition Does Not Mean the End of the Petrostate, Global Policy, Volume 10, Issue 2, May 2019, pp. 279-283, <u>https://onlineli-brary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/1758-5899.12649</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

⁴⁶ AGMP (2024), Coal chemistry as a new driver of economic growth, <u>https://agmp.kz/uglehimiya-kak-novaya-tochka-rosta-ekonomiki/</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

⁴⁷ New Security Beat (2020), China's Risky Gamble on Coal Conversion, <u>https://www.newsecuri-tybeat.org/2020/01/chinas-risky-gamble-coal-conversion/</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

⁴⁸ Tu, K. J. (2024), Prospects of the Chinese coal chemical industry in an increasingly carbon-constrained world, The Oxford Institute for Energy Studies, OIES Paper: CE13, February 2024, <u>https://www.oxfordenergy.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2024/02/CE13-Prospects-of-the-Chinese-coal-chemical-industry_FINAL.pdf</u> (last accessed on 19 October 2024).

15

Imprint

The Authors

Dr. Tatiana Lanshina is a Project Lead in the Power System Transformation team at Agora Energiewende*, focusing on cooperation with Kazakhstan. Lanshina also serves as the CEO of the Goal Number Seven Association, which promotes voluntary corporate demand for renewable energy in Russia. She holds a PhD in Economics from the Moscow State Institute of International Relations. **The views expressed here may not necessarily reflect those of Agora Energiewende*.

Yana Zabanova

Yana Zabanova is a Research Associate at the Research Institute for Sustainability-Helmholtz Centre Potsdam (RIFS Potsdam), where she focuses on the geopolitics of the global energy transformation, including its implications for the hydrocarbon-rich states in post-Soviet Eurasia, as well as on EU hydrogen policy. Zabanova is also a PhD candidate at the University of Groningen and is completing a dissertation comparing advocacy coaltions for renewable energy development in Russia and Kazakhstan.

Coordination of the publication series:

Lina Rühl

Policy Advisor Climate, Agriculture and Environment Analysis and Consulting Division T/p +49 30 / 26 996-3502 lina.ruehl@kas.de

Gisela Elsner

Global Sustainability Officer Analysis and Consulting Division T/p +49 30 / 26 996-3759 gisela.elsner@kas.de

Published by: Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung e. V. Design and typesetting: yellow too Pasiek & Horntrich GbR

This publication was published with financial support of the Federal Republic of Germany.

This publication of the der Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung e. V. is solely intended for information purposes. It may not be used by political parties or by election campaigners or supporters for the purpose of election advertising. This applies to federal, state and local elections as well as elections to the European Parliament.



The text of this publication is published under a Creative Commons license: "Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 4.0 international" (CC BY-SA 4.0), <u>https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/4.0/legalcode.</u>